IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 00-2166

MICHAEL W. MOORE, Secretary, Department of Corrections,

Petitioner,

-vs-

STEVEN PEARSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA,
FIRST DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLANT ON JURISDICTION

SHERON WELLS

/Assistant General Counsel Florida Bar No. 0068410 Department of Corrections 2601 Blair Stone Road Tallahassee, Fl 32399-2500

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Pearson is an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections. On March 29, 1996, Pearson was sentenced in Case No. 95-164 to five (5) years for an offense committed on July 14, 1995. The sentence was run concurrent to other active sentences-1 On November 6, 1996, Pearson was sentenced in Case No. 96-20 on 26 counts. Of relevance here, he was sentenced to terms of 13 years on several counts, all counts concurrent with one another and with all other active cases. All offenses in Case No. 96-20 were committed after October 1, 1995, and are therefore subject to the 85% service requirement in § 944.275(4)(b)3, Fla. Stat. (1999).

On July 16, 1997, the department received an "Order Granting Motion to Correct Clerical Mistake" in Case No. 96-20 which directed that pursuant to the terms of the plea agreement, the case was to run concurrent and coterminous with all other active sentences. Since running Case No. 96-20 coterminous with the other active sentences would require the department to grant the benefit of court ordered gaintime to Case No. 96-20 in an amount that would reduce it below 85% service, or require release before service of less than 85% of the sentence by time physically incarcerated, the department could not structure Case No. 96-20 coterminous to the other active sentences. (See, \$944.275(4)(b)3). Thus, Pearson's

Pearson has other sentences not relevant to this action.

tentative release date was established based on the 13 year term in Case No. 96-20.

On November 12, 1998, Pearson served a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the Second Judicial Circuit seeking to compel the Department of Corrections to structure his sentences Coterminously. The court issued an order to show cause, and on April 19, 1999, the department filed a response to the Petition indicating that could not structure Pearson's 85% 13-year sentence coterminously with his pre-85% 5 year sentence since to do so would allow the 13 year sentence to expire prior to service of the 85% minimum required by section 944.275(4)(b)3. On June 17, 1999, the circuit court denied Pearson's petition. Pearson filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the First District Court of Appeal seeking review of the circuit court's order. The department filed a response, and oral argument was held on June 28, 2000.

On August 14, 2000, the district court granted the petition for certiorari with an opinion. The department filed a motion for rehearing, which was denied on September 25, 2000. The department also filed a motion for stay of the mandate which was denied on October 10, 2000. Subsequently, the department filed a timely notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court and a motion for stay of the opinion pending review. The motion for stay is currently pending in this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>Pearson</u> raises important separation of powers issues which should be resolved by this Court. <u>Pearson</u> holds that the department must "execute a sentence exactly as imposed" (<u>Id.</u> at 1^2), meaning for Pearson, that his 13 year sentence must be structured coterminously even though he avoids serving the 85% minimum under section 944.275(4)(b)3. The court reasoned that sentencing is within the realm of the judiciary and the department cannot alter sentences, even if they are illegal, due to the separation of powers principle.

Pearson has construed the separation—of powers doctrine without regard to that fact that the Legislature has delegated to the executive (DOC) exclusive authority over certain aspects of the execution of sentences which cannot be encroached upon by the judiciary, even if part of a plea.

The Court should also accept jurisdiction because <u>Pearson</u> is in direct conflict with opinions from the Second and Third Districts which recognize that coterminous structuring conflicts with the 85% statute in certain instances, and that as a result, it is a legal impossibility to give effect to the coterminous provision. <u>Turner v. State</u>, 689 So.2D 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); <u>Nieves v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D591 (Fla. 3d DCA, Feb. 24, 1999) Since the department processes sentencing orders issued throughout the state, the department respectfully

² Citations are to the Westlaw cite at 2000 WL 1140023 (Appendix A)

requests that this Court accept jurisdiction in order to resolve this conflict and promote the uniform and orderly administration of justice.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE IN ART, II, § 3, FLA. CONST.

This Court should accept review of this case based upon the important separation of powers issues involved, which have implications beyond the factual context of the Pearson case. Pearson holds that the department must give effect to a coterminous provision in a sentencing order, even if doing so would result in the inmate serving less than 85% of the sentence imposed in violation of section 944.275(4)(b)3. Pearson court stated that failure to execute a coterminous provision violated separation of powers because sentencing is within the realm of the judiciary. Pearson at 2. The court expressly construed the sentencing powers of the judiciary under the separation of powers doctrine so as to override the authority delegated by the legislature to the executive (DOC) regarding the execution of sentences; authority which the department submits the judiciary cannot circumvent through imposition of a specific sentencing provision.

It is the department's position that where the sentencing court has imposed an 85% sentence coterminous to a shorter sentence, such that the inmate will avoid serving 85% of the sentence imposed, the judiciary has interfered with the department's obligation to give effect to section 944.275(4)(b)3, as well as its authority to calculate release

dates under section 944.275.³ Thus, the <u>Pearson</u> opinion construes the separation of powers doctrine to allow the judiciary to encroach upon functions of executive branch, through DOC, in violation of Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const.

The <u>Pearson</u> decision is premised on a misperception that by not giving effect to the coterminous provision, the department is attempting to correct an illegal sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 1. <u>Pearson</u> states that the DOC has no authority to correct illegal sentences, and that only limited power exists to alter a sentence to the defendant's disadvantage, and that power belongs solely to the state attorney. <u>Id.</u>

Contrary to the statement in <u>Pearson</u>, the department does not endeavor to correct illegal sentences, nor has the department "asserted authority to review the legality of sentences imposed by the courts and alter them as it deems fit", as <u>Pearson</u> reports. <u>Id.</u> The opinion overlooks a critical distinction between illegal sentences in general and sentences

³ This Court has clearly indicated that it is not the function of the sentencing court to establish the date a sentence will expire.

The court fixes the penalty and the law fixes the beginning and expiration, unless more than one imprisonment sentence is passed upon the same defendant, in which case the trial court may provide that the period of imprisonment may run concurrently or consecutively. Wallace v. State, 41 Fla. 547, 26 So. 713 (Fla. 1899)

Brooke v. State, 128 So. 814, 816 (Fla. 1930). The Court stated that to remedy a sentencing order attempting to set the beginning and end of a sentence, that part of the order "can be treated as surplus-age and as having no effect upon the valid portion". Id.

that impose provisions that violate statutes the DOC is charged with administering. If, for example, a sentence is imposed in excess of the statutory maximum, it is not for DOC to challenge, and the sentence will be carried out as ordered. If, however, a sentence is imposed with a provision that DOC will apply post-sentence jail credit, or will not cut the usurped defendant's hair, the sentencing court has department's authority to maintain custody of inmates, and to calculate sentences in accordance with § 944.275. In these instances, it is within the department's authority to contest the objectionable portion of the order, even if it was part of the plea to which all sides agreed at sentencing.4 attorneys cannot bargain away powers that have been granted to DOC, and courts have repeatedly held that in these the circumstances, the department is not bound to "execute the sentence exactly as imposed as Pearson directs. Id. at 1.

Because the sweeping language of the <u>Pearson</u> opinion fails to distinguish between sentencing orders imposing illegal sentences, which the DOC has no authority to correct, and

⁴ See e.g, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) (award of post-sentence credit is a matter within DOC's purview, not the sentencing court's) <u>Moore v. Lowerv</u>, 758 So.2d 737 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (trial court was without authority to require the DOC to refrain from cutting inmate's hair even though it was a term of the plea agreement). <u>See also</u>, <u>Shuoe v. State</u>, 516 So.2d 73 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) <u>Sinuletary v. Coronado</u>, 673 So.2d 924 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); <u>Riley v. State</u>, 743 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); <u>Singletary v. Evans</u>, 676 So.2d 51, 52 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996); <u>Davis v. Singletary</u>, 659 So.2d 1126, 1127 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

imposing provisions which encroach upon sentencing orders duties the DOC has been charged with administering, it is of great necessity that this Court accept review in this case in order to clarify and/or correct this matter. The proper execution of sentencing orders affects virtually all defendants sentenced throughout the State of Florida, and statutory sentencing provisions are becoming more numerous and complex, clarity in this area of the law is a essential. <u>Pearson</u> opinion prevents the department from applying section 944.275(4)(b)3, and allows defendants to avoid serving 85% of their sentence. The opinion has further implications any time a sentencing court imposes a provision which is in conflict with a statute the DOC has been charged with administering, since the broad language of the opinion does not limit its application to provisions falling under the authority of the judiciary.'

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE SECOND AND THIRD DISTRICTS IN TURNER V. STATE, 689 So.2D 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)AND NIEVES V. STATE, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D591 (Fla. 3d DCA, Feb. 24, 1999)

<u>Pearson</u> is in direct conflict with opinions of the Second and Third Districts in Turner v. State, and <u>Nieves v. State</u>.

⁵ A sentencing order that imposes a coterminous sentence in violation of section 944.275(4)(b)3 not only usurps the executive's authority to effectuate 85% service, but also the legislature's authority to enact this statutory requirement.

Moore v. State, 392 So.2d 277 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (the Legislature has authority over "the particular means and methods of execution of sentences").

There, the inmates sought relief from the trial court. The Second and Third Districts held that it is not legally possible to execute a post-October 1, 1995 sentence coterminous to a shorter sentence that would result in less than 85% service, therefore, the inmates were entitled to withdraw their pleas.

Turner at 1108, 110; Nieves at D591.6

Pearson directly conflicts with <u>Turner</u> and <u>Nieves</u> as to whether coterminous sentencing conflicts with the application of section 944.275(4)(b)3. The Second and Third Districts found that coterminous structuring <u>does</u> conflict with the 85% statute and expressly approved the DOC's actions. <u>Turner</u> at 1109 ("it is clear that the Department of Corrections <u>must</u> apply [the 85% provision]" to the exclusion of the coterminous provision. (emphasis supplied)).

Pearson, on the other hand, holds that coterminous structuring does not conflict with the 85% statute⁷ and held that the department cannot apply the 85% provision to the exclusion of the coterminous provision. <u>Id.</u> at 2-3. Since the department structures sentences of inmates sentenced throughout the State, this conflict must be resolved, as it is highly

⁶ <u>Pearson</u> noted that although <u>Turner</u> and <u>Nieves</u> found that it was legally impossible to carry out the coterminous provision where it would result in less than 85% service, those cases addressed the different issue of whether the inmates could withdraw their plea. <u>Id.</u> at n.2. This distinction does not dispel the conflict or aid the department in the proper execution of sentences and the calculation of release dates.

⁷ See, <u>Pearson</u> at n.2.

important to the orderly and uniform administration of justice. For example, a sentencing order recently received by the department illustrates the problems resulting from Pearson. There, an inmate subject to the 85% statute was sentenced last May to life for first degree murder, coterminous to a New Jersey sentence from which the inmate had already been paroled. According to Pearson, this inmate should be released immediately. The inmate's attorney has even written the department claiming that Pearson requires that his client be released. (Appendix B) This is just one of predictably many examples of the peculiar and unjust results stemming from Pearson, unless the Court accepts the case for review.

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, the Department respectfully requests that the Court accept discretionary review of the <u>Pearson</u> case.

Respectfully submitted,

SHERON WELLS

Assistant General Counsel Fla. Bar NO.: 0068410 DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 2601 Blair Stone Road Tallahassee,, FL 32399 (850) 488-2326

heron weels