045

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC 00-2166

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL

NOV 07 2000

MICHAEL W. MOORE,
Secretary, Florida
Department of Corrections,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY _____

Petitioner, Appellant,

vs.

STEVEN PEARSON,

Respondent, Appellee.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT
COURT OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLEE, STEVEN PEARSON, ON
JURISDICTION

✓ Baya Harrison, III, Esq.
Counsel for Respondent,
Appellee, Steven Pearson
Silver Lake Road
Post Office Box 1219
Monticello, FL 32345-1219
Fla. Bar No. 099568
Tel: 850/997-8469
FAX: 850/997-8468
Email: bayalaw@aol.com

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, appellant, Michael **W. Moore**, Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections, will be referred to by his **agency**, "the **DOC.**" The respondent, appellee, Steven Pearson, will be referred to as "Mr. Pearson."

Reference to the decision in Pearson **v. Moore**, 25 **Fla.L.Weekly D1940** (August 14, 2000), will be made as that case appears and is paginated in the **DOC's** appendix to its brief on jurisdiction.

All emphasis in bold type is added by the undersigned.

STATEMENT CERTIFYING TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The undersigned hereby certifies that this brief on jurisdiction is typed using a 12 point Courier, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Mr. Pearson accepts, for the most part, the **DOC's** statement of the case and of the facts as set forth on pages 1 and 2 of its brief on jurisdiction, except as noted below.

The **DOC** does not fully nor correctly reflect the course of the proceedings in the trial court in its statement of the case and facts. It also improperly injects legal arguments on pages 1 and 2 of its brief on jurisdiction. For example, on page 1, it notes that

"(a)ll offenses in Case No. 96-20 were committed after October 1, 1995, and are therefore subject to the 85% service requirement in §944.275(4)(b)3, Fla. Stat. (1999)."

Whether these sentences are "subject to the 85% service requirement" obviously begs the question presented for judicial review. The **DOC** adds on page 1 that "**(o)n** July 16, 1997, the department received an 'Order Granting Motion to Correct Clerical Mistake in Case No. **96-20...**" This is somewhat misleading because it suggests that the trial court did not **initially** impose a **coterminous** sentence upon Mr. Pearson. In fact, the original plea agreement, adhered to by the sentencing judge when Mr. Pearson was initially sentenced in Case No. 96-20, specifically provided that the sentences imposed in Case No. 96-20 were to be served conterminously with a previously imposed 5 year prison sentence. See **Pearson v. Moore, Fla. Law weekly D591 (Fla. 1st DCA, Aug. 24, 2000)**, the **DOC's** Appendix to Jurisdictional Brief,

Document "A," page 3. Thus, the July 16, 1997 "Order Granting Motion to Correct Clerical Mistake," referred to by the DOC on page 1 of its brief on jurisdiction was just that -- an Order from the sentencing judge correcting the mistake the clerk made in not specifying the **coterminous** nature of the sentences that the court ordered **initially**.

The DOC includes additional legal argument in the second sentence of the second paragraph on page 1 of its jurisdictional brief when it describes the effect of "running Case No. 96-20 coterminous with the other active sentences." According to the DOC, this would require it to "grant the benefit of court ordered **gaintime** to Case No. 96-20 in an amount that would reduce it below 85% service," and, therefore, the DOC could not structure the sentence in that manner. This is completely off the mark. Mr. Pearson does not seek to have the DOC grant him any gaintime. He asks only that it honor the letter and spirit of the **coterminous** sentence that the trial judge imposed in Case No. 96-20.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The main question presented here is whether the DOC may refuse to give effect to a sentence imposed by a circuit court. *Pearson v. Moore*, Fla. Law weekly D591 (Fla. 1st DCA, Aug. 24, 2000), page 1. The sentence in question is a **coterminous** 13 year sentence which, by operation of law, expires when a previously imposed 5 year prison sentence **expires.**¹ The critical answer to this question must be an emphatic "no" because,

"(u)nder article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution, once service of a sentence has begun, the state cannot alter it unilaterally to a prisoner's detriment."

Pearson supra, the **DOC's** Appendix to Jurisdictional Brief, Document "A," page 3, citing *Troupe v. Rowe*, 283 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1973). The state did not appeal the coterminous 13 year sentence that was originally set to expire when Mr. Pearson's earlier imposed 5 year sentence expired. The "DOC is not authorized to appeal the imposition of a sentence."

Pearson, supra, the **DOC's** Appendix to Jurisdictional Brief, Document "A," at page 3. But this attempt at a "back door" appeal and nullification of Mr. Pearson's **coterminous** sentence -- is exactly what the DOC is attempting to do.²

¹ A coterminous sentence, defined as a sentence that runs concurrently with another and terminates simultaneously, are recognized and accepted in Florida. See for example, *Madden v. State*, 535 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 1988).

² The cases of *Wallace v. State*, 41 **Fla.** 547, 26 So. 713 (Fla. 1899) and *Brooke v. State*, 128 So. 814 (Fla. 1930) are not applicable. This is so because, in the case at bar, the trial court was not performing an administrative function and did not order a certain end-of-sentence date. Instead, the trial court simply imposed a coterminous sentence -- and the

The critical factor in this case is the "separation of powers between the judicial and executive branches." (*Id.*) Circuit Court judges, not the DOC, have the constitutional power to sentence persons convicted of crimes. The "DOC lacks the power to adjudicate the legality of a sentence or to add or delete sentencing conditions." (*Id.*)

The *Pearson* decision does not directly conflict with *Turner v. Singletary*, 689 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), and *Nieves v. State*, 24 Fla. L. weekly D591 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). In *Turner* and *Nieves*, the district courts were faced with the issue of whether the defendants should be allowed to withdraw their plea subsequent to the DOC refusing to run the sentences coterminously. This is different than the issue in the case at bar since:

"Here, Mr. Pearson does not seek to withdraw his plea. Instead, he asks to serve only the sentence the trial court imposed, and raises the question whether DOC has the authority to declare a sentence illegal, although it was duly pronounced by the trial court and never appealed."

Pearson, supra, the **DOC's** Appendix to Jurisdictional Brief, Document "A," page 5.

law with regard to coterminous sentences took over from there.

MR. PEARSON'S ANSWER TO THE DOC'S ARGUMENT

This Court should not accept review of the decision in Pearson v. Moore, 25 Fla. L. weekly **D1940** (Fla. 1st DCA, Aug. 14, 2000) under Art. V., **S3(b)3** of the Florida Constitution.

A. As to the DOC's First Argument

Admittedly, the decision of the District Court of Appeal expressly construed the separation of powers doctrine in Article I, Declaration of Rights, Section 3, Florida **Constitution**, but this is not controlling since the District Court correctly interpreted the Florida Constitution.

"No administrative agency shall impose a sentence of imprisonment, nor shall it impose any other penalty except as provided by law."

Article I, Declaration of Rights, Section 18, Florida Constitution.

For more than three decades, the DOC has far too often violated the liberty interests of Florida prison inmates by, among other things, ignoring and/or misapplying statutes enacted by the Florida Legislature and decisions rendered by our appellate courts, including those of this Honorable Court. See for example *Lynce v. Mathis*, 519 U.S. 433 (1997), *Gomez v. Singletary*, 733 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1998), *Calamia v. Singletary*, 694 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1998), *Gwong v. Singletary*, 733 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1996), *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U. S. 24 (1981), *Waldrup v. Dugger*, 562 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1990), *Harris v. Wainwright*, 376 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1979), and *Raske v. Martinez*, 876 F.2d 1496 (11th Cir. 1989). This is especially

true regarding Florida's 85% law and the issue of gain-time. See *Gwong*, *supra*.³ In so doing, the DOC often avoids the substantive issues by unnecessarily disparaging⁴ the inmate personally in lieu of advancing a valid legal argument and keeping inmates behind bars far longer than the law allowed by seeking unnecessary judicial review of court decisions rendered against it. That is exactly what the DOC is doing to Mr. Pearson. Thus, in seeking a stay in the case at bar, the DOC conveniently fails to even mention the fact that Mr. Pearson should have been released from prison many months ago. This is so because, as the district court stated so plainly in *Pearson*, the DOC may not

" . . .**refuse** to give effect to a sentence imposed by a circuit court."

Pearson v. Moore, 25 Fla. L. weekly D1940, (August 14, 2000, rehearing denied, September 25, 2000), Appendix to the DOC's Jurisdictional Brief, "Document A," page 2. The sentence in question is a 13 year post-85% law **coterminal** sentence imposed by a circuit judge on November 8, 1996. That sentence, rendered pursuant to a plea bargain entered into between Mr. Pearson and the State of **Florida**⁵, by the DOC's own admission, was imposed by the circuit court,

³ This court is asked to recall that, in attempting to justify its flawed legal position in *Gwong*, *supra*, the DOC essentially indicated that it simply did not agree with this Court's earlier controlling decision in **Waldrup**, *supra*.

⁴ See the DOC's brief on jurisdiction, page 1. ("On November 6, 1996, Pearson was sentenced in Case No. 96-20 on 26 counts.")

". . .**concurrent** and 'coterminous' to a pre-existing 5 year term that had been imposed for an offense committed prior to October 1, 1995."

(See the **DOC's** Motion for Stay Pending Review dated October 12, 2000, filed in this cause, page 2.) The validity of a coterminous sentence is recognized in Florida, and has

". . .**been** defined as a sentence that runs concurrently with another and terminates simultaneously."

Pearson, Appendix to the **DOC's** Jurisdictional Brief, "Document **A**," page 5, citing *Madden v. State*, 535 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The state attorney did not appeal the sentence. Mr. Pearson has now maxed-out the earlier imposed 5 year sentence. Since it is undisputed that the sentencing court ordered that the 13 year sentence was to be served concurrently and end coterminously with that earlier 5 year sentence, Mr. Pearson "simultaneously" has maxed-out the 13 year sentence as well by operation of law.

Why then is Mr. Pearson still in prison? Because once again the DOC has demonstrated its disdain for the rule of law and the judicial branch of Florida's government. As the district court eloquently noted in **Pearson**,

5 The district court noted that the State did not appeal Mr. Pearson's 13 year coterminous sentence. See **Pearson**, page 6. The district court added in this regard:

"DOC cannot rescind the state attorney's office's decision not to appeal by stating at this juncture objections to a sentence which was not appealed during the time allowed. DOC is not authorized to appeal the imposition of a sentence."

"The sentence of which DOC disapproves is the sole authority for Mr. Pearson's incarceration. By refusing to execute the sentence exactly as imposed by the sentencing court, DOC has allegedly transformed what was effectively a five-year term of incarceration into a term of incarceration more than twice as long."

Pearson, supra, Appendix to the **DOC's** Jurisdictional Brief, "Document A," page 3. Thus, the real question should be: How can the DOC continue to keep Mr. Pearson behind bars despite the fact that he has terminated the sentences which a circuit judge imposed upon him?

The DOC relies on Section **944.275(4)(b)3**, Florida Statutes, (that is, the so called "85% law") to justify its supposed inability to structure Mr. Pearson's sentences so that they can be served coterminously, as the sentencing court ordered. Section **944.275(4)(b)3**, which sets forth the **DOC's** authority regarding the awarding of gain-time for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1995, provides in pertinent part,

"(f)or sentences imposed for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1995, the department may grant up to 10 days per month of incentive gain-time, except that no prisoner is eligible to earn any type of gain-time in an amount that would cause a sentence to expire, end or terminate, or that would result in a prisoner's release, prior to serving a minimum of 85 percent of the sentence imposed."

This statute makes it clear that the DOC cannot award "gain-time" that would cause an inmate's release prior to serving 85% of the sentence imposed. However, in the case at bar, Mr. Pearson did not ask the DOC to award him "gain-time" on his 13-year post October 1, 1995 sentence. Gain-time is totally irrelevant to the issue in this case. The trial

court ordered Mr. Pearson's sentences to run coterminously, gain-time notwithstanding. The utilization of gain-time plays no part in fulfilling the court's order. Therefore, the **DOC's** reliance on Section **944.275(4)(b)3**, Florida Statutes, fails.

In addition, even if this court found that the Legislature's intent was for all inmates (whose crimes were committed after October 1, 1995) to serve 85% of the sentence imposed, Mr. Pearson's 13 year **coterminous** sentence would not violate that law. This is so because the sentence Judge Bryan imposed upon Mr. Pearson was not just for 13 years -- it was for 13 years concurrent and **coterminous** with an earlier imposed 5 year sentence. That is a major distinction. Thus, by sentencing him to 13 years concurrent and coterminous with the 5 year sentence, the sentencing court knowingly sentenced Mr. Pearson to no more time in prison than the time he would actually serve on his 5 year sentence. The DOC must honor that sentence. As the Pearson court noted, "**DOC** is an executive branch charged with faithfully implementing sentences imposed **by the courts.**" *Pearson, supra*, Appendix to the **DOC's** Jurisdictional Brief, **Document **A,**" page 4. (Emphasis supplied.) The district court added, again at page 4: "**As** part of the executive branch, **DOC** lacks the power to adjudicate the legality of a sentence or to add or delete sentencing conditions" citing *Slay v. Singletary*, 676 So. 2d 456, 457 (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1996).

Stated a little differently, the DOC asks this court to conclude that Mr. Pearson must serve 11.05 years (85% of a term of 13 calendar years) of a coterminous sentence. This is not what the sentencing court intended, not what Mr. Pearson bargained for⁶ and, as the Pearson court clearly recognized, beyond the **DOC's** "asserted authority to review the legality of sentences imposed by the courts and alter them as it deems fit." *Pearson*, at page 3. The *Pearson* court added:

"Under article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution, once service of a sentence has begun, the state cannot alter it unilaterally to a prisoner's detriment. See *Troupe v. Rowe*, 283 So. 2d 857, 860 (**Fla.** 1973). The state's limited statutory authority to appeal sentences is exercised by the office that prosecutes the convict who is sentenced (Citations omitted.) DOC cannot rescind the state attorney's office's decision not to appeal by stating at this juncture objections to a sentence which was not appealed during the time allowed. DOC is not authorized to appeal the imposition of a sentence."

Pearson, *supra*, Appendix to the **DOC's** Jurisdictional Brief,

⁶ We point out that if the **DOC's** interpretation regarding the 85% law was extended to other situations, it would become clear that the DOC is wrong. For example, certainly the DOC would not attempt to apply the 85% law to multiple, concurrent sentences in a fashion that would require the inmate to serve 85% of each individual sentence separately. That sentence structure is obviously wrong as that would be essentially changing the multiple, concurrent sentences to multiple, consecutive sentences. The same logic applies to a sentence that is ordered to run coterminously. For example (and as is the case here), a 13 year sentence running concurrent and coterminous to a 5 year sentence means that the sentence imposed equals the amount of time served on the 5 year sentence. Thus, since Mr. Pearson has expired his 5 year sentence, his 13 year coterminous sentence has also expired and that means he would have served 100% of the 13 year coterminous sentence imposed. Certainly, this satisfies the 85% law.

"Document A" at page 3.

As to the DOC's Second Argument

- B. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal in *Pearson, supra*, does not directly conflict with *Turner* and *Nieves*.

The DOC mistakenly relies on *Turner v. Singletary*, 689 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), and *Nieves v. State*, 24 Fla. L. weekly D591 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), asserting that those decisions conflict with *Pearson*. (The **DOC's** Brief on Jurisdiction, pages 8-10.) This is incorrect. Although the courts in *Tuxnex* and *Nieves* addressed the issue of coterminous sentences as they relate to pre- and post-October 1, 1995 offenses, it was only in the context of whether the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his plea subsequent to the DOC refusing to run the sentences coterminously. The courts in *Turner* and *Nieves* did **not** find that the DOC acted properly by refusing to structure the sentences according to the court's order as that issue was neither presented nor considered by the courts in those two cases. Furthermore, in *Turner, supra*, the defendant accepted a plea agreement (and was sentenced according to same) in which he would admit guilt to a post-October 1, 1995 offense in exchange for a 30 month sentence which would run concurrently and coterminously with a pre-October 1, 1995 sentence. Upon entering prison, the DOC advised Turner that, in accordance with Section **944.275(4)(b)3**, Florida Statutes, he would have to serve 85% of the post-October 1, 1995 sentence, and, therefore it (the

DOC) would not run his sentences coterminously. The defendant filed a motion to withdraw his plea per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 arguing that his guilty plea was involuntarily made without a full understanding of the consequences. The sentencing court denied his motion and Turner appealed. The district court found that, because of the "specific representation made by the trial court in its plea offer that the new sentences would terminate at the conclusion of the previously imposed sentence," and because this was not possible under Section **944.275(4)(b)3**, Florida Statutes, the defendant was entitled to withdraw his plea. ***Turner, supra***, 689 So.2d at 1110.

The facts in the ***Turner*** case are further distinguishable from the facts in the case at bar in that, as noted above, Turner sought to withdraw his plea while Mr. Pearson is merely attempting to have the DOC honor Judge Bryan's sentencing order. As the district court stated in ***Pearson, supra***, at page 5, footnote 2:

"We note, however, that, since enactment of the Stop Turning Out Prisoners Act, Ch. **95-294, §§ 1, 2, and 5**, at 2717-2718, Laws of **Fla.**, the Second and Third Districts have concluded that coterminous sentences may be legally impossible in certain circumstances. See *Obaya v. State*, 723 So. 2d 924, 925 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); ***Turner v. State*, 689 So. 2d 1107,1110**, (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); see also *Nieves v. State*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D591 (**Fla.** 3d DCA Feb. 24, 1999). On this premise, those courts approved defendants withdrawing pleas post-judgment upon **DOC's** refusal to honor the sentences imposed by the sentencing court. Seeed. These opinions do not address the question whether mandamus may lie to compel DOC to implement coterminous sentences.

Here, Mr. Pearson does not seek to withdraw his plea. Instead, he asks to serve only the sentence the trial court imposed, and raises the question whether **DOC** has the authority to declare a sentence illegal, although it was duly pronounced by the trial court and never appealed."